2008

John Nikols v. Goodman and Chesnoff, David Z. Chesnoff : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j) (2008) because this case was transferred by the Utah Supreme Court. The Honorable John Paul Kennedy, Third District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entered Judgment denying Appellant's Motion for Discharge of Writ of Attachment on April 29, 2008.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW; PRESERVATION

Issue 1: Did John Nikols establish that he held the four Murray properties in a purchase money resulting trust where they were titled in his son's name?

Standard of Review: The court will not **disturb** a trial court's findings of fact unless the evidence clearly preponderates against it in reviewing the creation of a purchase money resulting trust. In Re Estate of Hock, 655 P. 2d 1111, 1114 (Utah 1982).

Preservation: Counsel for Appellant argued that the intent of the trustee is irrelevant to the creation of a purchase money resulting trust, in which the intent of the grantor is determinative. R. 2953: 126 (15-19).

Issue 2: Did the court err in imposing an adverse inference against John Nikols after it conditioned Michael Nikols' testimony upon a waiver of his privilege against self incrimination?

Standard of Review: Questions of law are reviewed for correctness. State v. Harmon, 910 P.2d 1196, 1199 (Utah 1995).

Preservation: Counsel for Appellant objected to the court's ruling that John Nikols could not call Michael Nikols to the stand unless Michael waived his privilege against self incrimination. R. 2953: 118-19.

Issue 3: Did the district court err in drawing an adverse inference against John Nikols when Appellee Chesnoff chose not testify in support of his two claims: that he relied on the title to secure payment and that John was also a debtor?

Standard of Review: Questions of law are reviewed for correctness. Harmon, 910 P. 2d at 1199.

Preservation: Counsel for Appellant told the Court she welcomed Mr. Chesnoff's testimony regarding conversations he had with John Nikols and that it was not her position to prevent Mr. Chesnoff from testifying on his own behalf. R. 2953: 135 (7-9).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4, Utah Rules of Evidence 608 and 609, and Utah Rule of Professional Conduct 1.6 are in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee Chesnoff obtained a judgment against Michael Nikols for unpaid attorney fees. As a creditor of Michael Nikols, Mr. Chesnoff cannot attach property titled in Michael's name but owned by Michael's father, Appellant John Nikols. The Court found John established a purchase money resulting trust, based on his testimony and evidence he made the mortgage payments and incurred all other obligations. The Court erred, however in ruling that, John's prima facie case alone, with no evidence presented to the contrary, was overruled by two adverse inferences against him for failing to "produce" witnesses he was under no obligation to present. The Court erred in allowing those inferences to serve as a substitute for affirmative evidence of Mr. Chesnoff's claims. These inferences against John, without corroborative evidence supporting Mr. Chesnoff's defenses, were insufficient to override John Nikols evidence of a resulting trust in his favor.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Properties Mr. Chesnoff Attached

John Nikols, a Greek immigrant, established Coachman's Restaurant at 1301 South State Street when he purchased the land in 1975. R. 2953: 45 (1-2). The 1301

South State Street property has been titled in John Nikols' name for its entire existence and in its 33 years has become a fixture in Salt Lake City.¹ R. 302, Exhibit A.

To further invest in real estate, in 1978 John Nikols purchased a plot of land facing State Street at 4338 South ("the primary property"). R. 2953: 53 (6-7); 88 (9-16). The primary property has also been titled in his name since its existence. R. 2953: 99 (18-21). Abutting properties to the primary property later came for sale. R. 2953: 90 (12-15). In 1988 and 1994 John purchased four lots adjoining his primary property to establish a larger, more valuable investment. R. 2953: 90-91. These four properties ("the four Murray properties") are the subject of this appeal.

The first addition came in 1988 when John purchased three adjoining lots to the primary property.² R. 2953: 58-59; P. 89 (14-23). At his realtor's suggestion, John titled these first three properties to his son, Michael Nikols, because he wanted to secure an immediate purchase and was not sure of the status of outstanding judgments against him. R. 2953: 60 (1-19); 76 (3-18); 90 (3-7); 97 (7-9). The second addition came in 1994 when John purchased the fourth adjoining lot, also titling it in Michael's name.³ R. 2953: 60 (1-19). He did so for continuity and ease.

The Encumbrance

The four Murray properties became encumbered on November 18, 2004 when Michael Nikols was indicted on one count of conspiracy to distribute narcotics and one

¹ John Nikols' residence at 2256 Lakeline Circle also has been titled in his name since he purchased it in 1976. R. 2953: 51 (1-6); 105: (16-18).

² These properties are located at 71 East 4340 South, 85 East Edison Avenue, and 75 East Edison Avenue. R. 2953: 51; 105.

³ The fourth property is located at 72 East Fireclay Avenue.

count of possession of one or more firearms in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime. R. 800, Attachment 4. The indictment included a notice of intent to seek criminal forfeiture of real and personal property titled in Michael's name. Id. The federal government's seizure included the Coachman's Restaurant at 1301 South State Street and the four Murray properties. The government also attached Michael's residence at 1402 West Van Buren Avenue in Salt Lake City, which he purchased in approximately 2001. Id.

Michael retained Mr. Ron Yengich as counsel. R. 532: Attachment B (¶ 6). Mr. Yengich did extensive work on Michael's case, filing numerous motions. After his extensive work on Michael's case, the Court discharged Mr. Yengich on June 2, 2005 for a conflict of interest based on the government's claim that it intended to offer one of Mr. Yengich's former clients a reduced sentence for providing information against Michael. R. 532: Attachment B (¶ 7). His discharge came just three months before Judge Cassell's firm final change of plea deadline of September 27, 2005. R. 355: (¶ 4).

The Initial Consultation with Mr. Chesnoff

To replace Mr. Yengich, Michael hired Las Vegas attorney David Chesnoff. Michael and his father, John Nikols, initially met with Mr. Chesnoff in his Las Vegas office on or about July 2, 2005 (the "initial consultation"). R. 355: (¶ 2). During the initial consultation John and Michael made it clear that the forfeiture aspect of the case was critical because John owned the Murray properties. R. 2953: 3-9. John explained to Mr. Chesnoff that the Coachman's was titled in John's name and Michael had never had any ownership interest in Coachman's, that John had titled all four Murray properties in Michael's name as an asset protection strategy, and that Michael never paid for them and

never had actual control of them. R. 2953: 95 (5-13). At this meeting, Mr. Chesnoff told Michael and John that the forfeiture claims could be easily addressed and that he would hire forfeiture expert to dispose of the forfeiture claims. R. 532: Attachment A (¶ 10).

For his services, Mr. Chesnoff charged Michael Nikols a nonrefundable flat fee of \$350,000. The parties did not discuss whether the fee would be adjusted if Michael's case did not go to trial. R. 532: Attachment B (¶ 10). John Nikols emphasized to Mr. Chesnoff that clearing the Coachman's Restaurant of the government's lis pendens was a priority because John needed to borrow against the Coachman's to pay Mr. Chesnoff's fees until Michael could pay him back. R. 996, Exhibit A: 4 (¶ 1, 2).

Mr. Chesnoff's Representation

Before Michael Nikols accepted a plea, Mr. Chesnoff appeared three times. His first and second court appearances in Michael's case were at status conferences on July 15 and September 29, 2005. R. 639, Attachment F; R. 421, Exhibit C. On October 6, 2005, Mr. Chesnoff attended a Court hearing to discuss Michael's detention. R. 996, Exhibit 2. During his appearances, Mr. Chesnoff, as an officer of the court, told the Honorable Paul Cassell that the property attached to the government's claim was not Michael Nikols' and that no portion of Michael's drug proceeds had been used to pay for the land. R. 421, Exhibit C: 6 (13-21); R.996.

On October 18, 2005, three months after Mr. Chesnoff filed his appearance, Michael pled guilty to count 1 of the Indictment. R. 800, Exhibit 6: 18. That day he was sentenced to seventy (70) months custody. Id. The settlement required him to pay a

\$200,000 judgment in lieu of the government's foreclosure of the properties identified in the forfeiture claims. R. 800, Exhibit 7.

Post-Plea Events

On his son's behalf, John Nikols paid the \$200,000 forfeiture settlement to clear his properties even though he was under no legal obligation to do so. R. 1957: 6 (¶ f, g). The Government then released the lis pendens on all six of the real properties. R. 800, Exhibit 7. However, the \$200,000 was returned to John and the lis pendens was reinstated on the properties on October 16, 2006 when the federal court granted Michael's petition to withdraw his plea. Michael's criminal case is currently pending trial.

Mr. Chesnoff's Current Collection Suit

Mr. Chesnoff and his firm filed suit on December 9, 2005 against Michael Nikols seeking \$190,000 in legal fees he had not received toward his \$350,000 flat fee. R.1. Three days later, Mr. Chesnoff motioned for a prejudgment writ of attachment on six parcels of property, including the Coachman's Restaurant, which he had actual notice was not titled in Michael's name. R. 27. The following day, Mr. Chesnoff filed a new motion for prejudgment attachment, this time requesting that it be ex parte. R. 39. Michael answered and counterclaimed on January 20, 2005. R. 107. John Nikols commenced his own action against Mr. Chesnoff and his firm alleging malpractice with respect to his handling of the forfeiture claim. R. 133. The two cases were consolidated. R.157.

On summary judgment, the Court found that Michael was Mr. Chesnoff's debtor for the outstanding amount and that there was no basis for John's claims since there was no attorney-client relationship between John and Mr. Chesnoff. R. 1957: 4-6. The Court's order made four relevant findings: first, Michael entered into a retainer agreement for \$350,000 with Mr. Chesnoff and owed the principal amount of \$190,000 to Mr. Chesnoff; second, that there was a dispute of actual ownership regarding the properties and further discovery was required; third, there was no attorney-client relationship between Mr. Chesnoff and John; and fourth, the \$200,000 settlement in lieu of forfeiture on the four Murray properties "was against Michael only, and John was not obligated to pay the \$200,000 judgment, nor was he a party to the plea agreement." R. 1957: 4-6.

After obtaining summary judgment, Mr. Chesnoff sought to execute the writ of attachment and satisfy his judgment against the four Murray properties. R. 2041-43. John Nikols opposed execution of the writ, arguing that he created a purchase money resulting trust as owner of the properties. R. 2953: 126.

Evidentiary Hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, John Nikols restated his claim of ownership. He explained exactly how he found and purchased the properties and why the properties were titled in his son's name. R. 2953: 58-59; 89 (14-23). Michael Nikols proffered that he was prepared to testify that the properties were not a gift to him but indicated that he would assert his Fifth Amendment right against self incrimination if questioned about matters relating to his pending criminal trial. R. 2953: 118-19. Mr. Chesnoff argued that

he could not fully cross examine Michael and impeach his credibility if he was unable to ask him about facts underlying the pending criminal charges. R. 2953: 142 (18-21). The Court agreed and held that Michael would not be permitted to testify about the conveyance in 1988 and 1994 unless he waived his Fifth Amendment privilege and responded to questions about the pending criminal charges. R. 2953: 120 (3-8). Michael Nikols declined to waive his Fifth Amendment rights and proffered his deposition testimony taken by Mr. Chesnoff's counsel. R. 2953: 120(9). The Court declined to accept the deposition based upon the representation of Mr. Chesnoff's counsel that the deposition was inadequate. R. 2953: 117 (13-15). John Nikols then submitted his case on the evidence he presented.

Instead of presenting evidence to rebut John Nikols' evidence, Mr. Chesnoff's counsel stated that if Mr. Chesnoff testified Michael's attorney-client privilege would be waived and his testimony would adversely effect Michael's criminal case. R. 2953: 117 (2-7); R. 2953: 129 (8-11); R. 2953: 155 (10-20). Michael also refused to waive his attorney-client privilege about privileged communications he had had with Mr. Chesnoff about his criminal case. R. 2953. Mr. Chesnoff did not take the stand to testify regarding discussions between himself and John Nikols. R. 2953.

The Court found John met his burden but allowed the improper adverse inferences – and nothing more – to eliminate John's prima facie showing:

“I'm troubled by the fact that it appears that, at least from one side of the testimony, that John Nikols has invested his money in buying these properties and that he's claimed that he's regarded them as his properties ... I mean, I don't — I don't think that you win just by presenting the prima facie case.”

R. 2953: 152-53.

The Court's final order included, in part, the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:⁴

John Nikols and his son both expressed their desire that David Chesnoff not testify regarding the issues before the Court, including issues of credibility of John and Michael Nikols. R. 2930.

Michael Nikols' refusal to testify and the opposition of Michael and John Nikols to the testimony of David Chesnoff were prejudicial to the ability of Chesnoff to be able to present his position in this matter in a full and complete manner. R. 2930.

John Nikols has not presented testimony from available and knowledgeable witnesses (Michael Nikols and David Chesnoff) to support his claim regarding the existence of a resulting trust in his favor regarding the Murray properties. R. 2930.

The Court therefore presumes that the testimony of Michael Nikols and David Chesnoff, had it been presented, would have been adverse to the claims of John Nikols regarding the purported resulting trust. R. 2930.

The Court concludes that John Nikols failed to meet his burden of establishing that a resulting trust existed with respect to the Murray properties. R. 2930.

John Nikols commenced this appeal shortly thereafter. R. 2930.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

John Nikols conclusively showed a resulting trust in his favor by establishing that he intended to retain the beneficial interest in the property and by showing he was both benefitted and burdened by the land. Any intent to avoid his creditors when the resulting trusts were created in 1988 and 1994 does not eliminate his current equitable interest in

⁴ Counsel for Mr. Chesnoff submitted a proposed order to which John Nikols submitted objections.

the properties – it only allows *his* creditors as of that time to pierce his interest. Michael Nikols’ creditors cannot reach what is owned by Michael’s father.

The Court erred in drawing an adverse inference against John Nikols based upon Michael Nikols’ failure to testify. The Court erroneously conditioned Michael’s testimony on a complete waiver of his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination in an unrelated criminal case to permit opposing counsel to impeach his credibility. Mr. Chesnoff’s counsel could have questioned Michael about his involvement in the transfer of title and his father’s intent without questioning him about his involvement in drug dealing and communications made to Mr. Chesnoff regarding that case. Moreover, Rules 608 and 609 of the Rules of Evidence prohibited Mr. Chesnoff from cross-examining Michael Nikols about the facts underlying the federal drug and firearm charges.

It was error to draw an adverse inference against John based upon Mr. Chesnoff’s failure to testify unless he could divulge harmful, privileged communications that were irrelevant to John Nikols’ representations to Mr. Chesnoff regarding payment to him. Mr. Chesnoff could have attempted to establish these claims against John Nikols without violating his attorney client privilege with Michael Nikols. Mr. Chesnoff could not have relied on the properties’ bare title as a surety because at the time the fee agreement was signed he had actual notice of John’s claim of ownership and that the property was encumbered by the federal government’s criminal forfeiture action. In addition, Michael Nikols – not John Nikols – was Mr. Chesnoff’s debtor as evidenced by the plain language of the fee agreement, the absence of any written guarantee and the Court’s prior order finding that John was not the debtor. The Court erred in imposing an adverse inference

against John Nikols where there was no logical expectation that John would produce Mr. Chesnoff as a witness to establish his claim John Nikols had no obligation to call Mr. Chesnoff to the stand to permit Chesnoff an opportunity to establish his defenses.

ARGUMENT

APPELLEE DAVID CHESNOFF CANNOT ATTACH PROPERTY TITLED IN HIS DEBTOR MICHAEL NIKOLS' NAME WHERE HE FAILED TO OVERCOME EVIDENCE APPELLANT JOHN NIKOLS PRESENTED ESTABLISHING THAT HE HELD A RESULTING TRUST IN THE PROPERTY.

John Nikols established that he retained a purchase money resulting trust in the beneficial interest of the four Murray properties when he put its legal title in his son's name. The Court erred in applying an adverse inference against him, overcoming this evidence without evidence to the contrary, simply because he did not call more than one witness and because Appellee Chesnoff chose not to testify on his own behalf.

The district Court erred in three ways. First, it erred in concluding that John Nikols failed to establish a purchase money resulting trust in his favor in the land titled in his son's name. Second, it erred in assigning an adverse inference against John Nikols after it conditioned Michael Nikols' testimony on a waiver of his right against self incrimination in the pending criminal case Finally, it erred in drawing an adverse inference against John Nikols when Appellee Chesnoff chose not to rebut John Nikols' evidence by testifying in support of his two claims.

Because the four Murray Properties are held by John Nikols in a purchase money resulting trust, Appellee Chesnoff cannot reach them to satisfy the judgment he obtained against John's son Michael.

I. JOHN NIKOLS ESTABLISHED THAT HE HELD THE PROPERTIES IN A PURCHASE MONEY RESULTING TRUST.

The Court erred in finding John Nikols did not establish a purchase money resulting trust where the evidence showed he intended to retain the equitable interest and was at all times both benefitted and burdened by the land.

When a parent pays consideration for land but titles it to his child, the courts presume that the conveyance was a gift. John Nikols conclusively rebutted this legal presumption by showing a resulting trust in his favor in two ways. First, he established that he intended to retain the beneficial interest in the property since the date of purchase. Second, he showed he was both benefitted and burdened by the land. Any intent to avoid his creditors when the resulting trusts were created in 1988 and 1994 does not eliminate John's current equitable interest in the property – it only allows *his* creditors as of that time to pierce his interest. Michael Nikols' creditors cannot reach what is owned by Michael's father.

A. JOHN NIKOLS ESTABLISHED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT HE INTENDED TO RETAIN THE BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY.

A resulting trust is created where one disposes of property under circumstances that suggest that he does not intend for the titleholder to have the beneficial interest in the property. Likewise, a purchase money resulting trust is implied where one person pays for the purchase of land but titles it in the name of another. Hock's Estate, 655 P.2d at 1115.

A sufficient showing that one other than legal titleholder paid purchase price for property makes prima facie case that beneficial ownership rests in the payor. Hocking v. Hocking, 394 N.E. 2d 653, 657 (Ill. App. Ct. 1979). It is undisputed that John Nikols paid for the four Murray properties Mr. Chesnoff seeks to execute. R. 996, Exhibit 2: 23-24; R. 421, Exhibit C: 16 (13-21); R. 2953: 140 (18-21); R. 2953: 40-41.

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