2008

# John Nikols v. Goodman & Chesnoff, David Z. Chesnoff : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

created.” Hocking v. Hocking, 394 N.E.2d 653, 658 (Ill. App. 1979). If the transaction is “susceptive of any other reasonable interpretation, then no trust will be found.” Id.

Because John is Michael’s father, the Properties are assumed to be a gift. It is John’s burden to rebut this presumption with clear and convincing evidence. In re Clemens, 472 F.2d at 943. John did not meet his burden. It was impossible to do so without the son’s testimony. Michael might have testified that the Properties belonged to him. Furthermore, while John claims title was placed in Michael’s name in order to avoid creditors, he cannot explain why the Properties remained in Michael’s name until 2006, 18 years after the initial purchases, and many years after John’s judgment creditors had been paid. In fact, while John’s various liens and judgments had been paid years earlier, Michael only conveyed the Properties to John after Michael’s creditors attached the Properties. Moreover, while John may have paid the mortgages on the Properties, this does not preclude the possibility that he did so for Michael’s benefit, especially where Michael was employed by John at the time.

It was John’s burden to show a “manifest intention” to create a resulting trust with Michael. However, John’s testimony, standing alone, without any testimony from the other prong of the alleged resulting trust, did not meet the clear and convincing burden of proof. Furthermore, the lower court was skeptical of John’s credibility, noting that John had stated facts directly to the Court in an earlier proceeding that were “not accurate.” R. 2930. Thus, the lower court had reason to discount John’s self-serving testimony, which is the only evidence John offered at trial. While Michael’s testimony could have bolstered John’s claim,

it also could have established Michael's belief that the Properties were a gift and no resulting trust was ever intended.

The law unquestionably presumes that a transaction involving a father who pays the purchase price for real property and puts the title in his son's name is intended as a gift. John ultimately failed to provide clear and convincing evidence to the contrary. It should also be noted that the lower court was in the best position to "view the witnesses and assess their credibility" and, as such, its findings should be given great deference. Hocking, 394 N.E.2d at 658. For these reasons, there can be no resulting trust and the lower court's ruling should be affirmed.

John cites several cases which he claims support his position that the lower court should have found a resulting trust in his favor. His reliance on those cases is misplaced. For example, the ruling in Woodard v. Funderburk actually favors Chesnoff's position. 846 So.2d 363 (Ala. App. 2002). In Woodard, a man named Larry purchased property but caused it to be titled in the name of his son, Jason, to avoid a judgment against him and in favor of the Mississippi Tax Commission. Later, one of Jason's creditors, Sabrina, attempted to attach the property. The court held that "a fraudulent conveyance is valid as to all the world except creditors of the grantor." Id. (citation omitted). Thus, with respect to the conveyance to Jason, the court concluded, "[a]s to Sabrina (and anyone other than the Mississippi State Tax Commission), the 1994 conveyance was valid" and was therefore attachable. Id. In other words, only the Tax Commission, as Larry's creditor, would have standing to contest the conveyance to Jason.

Similarly, in the instant case John had judgments against him when he purchased the Properties. John caused the Properties to be titled in Michael's name in order to avoid his creditors. According to Woodard, only John's creditors that existed at the time the Properties were titled in Michael's name have standing to contest the transactions. As to everyone else, including Michael's creditors (and therefore Chesnoff), the 1988 and 1994 conveyances were valid. Indeed, "what might be considered a fraudulent conveyance is valid as to all the world except creditors of the grantor". Id. In attaching the Properties, Chesnoff is properly relying on the conveyances to Michael, just as Sabrina relied on Larry's conveyance to Jason.

John also cites to Capital Assets Financial Services v. Lindsay, 956 P.2d 1090, 1095 (Utah App.1998). In Capital Assets, Lott, the owner of real property, quit claimed certain property to Christensen, intending to convey enough interest for Christensen to secure financing with the property as collateral. Id. at 1096. Lott then intended for Christensen to transfer to Capital Assets the power to sell the land for an unpaid debt. Id. It was undisputed that neither party intended Christensen to have any "right, title, interest or claim" to the property. Id. at 1090. While Christensen held title to the property, a judgment lien against Christensen attached. Id. This Court held that Christensen's ownership interest in the property was sufficient to uphold the attachment, stating:

It was not within the trial court's power to alter the judgment lien's quality on equitable grounds. As a matter of law, where an undisputed owner of fee simple title to real property conveys that real property to another by a standard form of quitclaim deed that contains no express reservation or exception to the title transferred, the grantee takes fee simple title.

Id. at 1096; *see also* Jacobson v. Jacobson, 557 P.2d 156, 158 (Utah 1976).

In the instant case, John caused Michael to take title to the Properties by standard warranty deeds. There is no evidence that those deeds contained any express reservations or exceptions to the title transferred. Thus, it is assumed Michael took title in fee simple. Capital Assets, 956 P.2d at 1096. According to Capital Assets, this is clearly a sufficient interest in the real property for a creditor of Michael's, such as Chesnoff, to attach. Id.

In Bill Nay & Sons Excavating v. Neeley Const., the court found that the defendant had fraudulently conveyed certain property to another entity to avoid a creditor. 677 P.2d 1120, 1121 (Utah 1984). The court then held that a resulting trust had been established in the defendant's favor for the sole purpose of allowing the creditor, in equity, to attach to the transferred property. Id. at 1123.

Again, Chesnoff does not dispute that the equitable remedy of a resulting trust was available to John's creditors when the Properties were titled in Michael's name. That is the holding in Neeley. However, Neeley does not stand for the proposition that John, after working a fraud on his creditors, can come in equity and claim the remedy of resulting trust to avoid Michael's creditors.

The facts in Hergenreter v. Sommers are inapposite to the instant case. 535 S.W.2d 513 (Mo. App. 1976). In Hergenreter, children had paid for property but their parents took title because of the children's status as minors. The parents' creditors attempted to attach to the property. The court found that a gift was not presumed when children, rather than a



parent, paid the consideration. In addition, the transferor, the Hergenreter children, had not attempted to avoid creditors and thus came to court with clean hands.

**III. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY PRESUMED AN ADVERSE INFERENCE WITH RESPECT TO MICHAEL NIKOLS' REFUSAL TO TESTIFY.**

**A. Evidence of Michael Nikols' drug trafficking would have been admissible in certain contexts.**

To say that evidence of drug trafficking is categorically inadmissible is contrary to Utah law. "Evidence of any fact which rationally tends to prove any material issue is admissible unless forbidden by some specific rule, and should be received if offered for an admissible purpose although it would be inadmissible if offered for some other purpose." State v. Neal, 254 P.2d 1053, 1056 (Utah 1953).

Specifically, Utah Rule of Evidence 608(c) states "[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced." This rule gives "broad discretion to the trial court to allow or disallow inquiry concerning any witness's prior bad acts..." State v. Valdez, 141 P.3d 614, 617 (Utah App. 2006).

Utah Rule of Evidence 404(b) states:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

John frames this issue by stating “[Mr. Mercer] wanted to cross examine Michael about the pending trafficking charge in order to impeach his credibility.” Brief of Appellant, pg. 23. John further argues that “nothing Mr. Chesnoff wanted to ask Michael Nikols would have been admissible.” *Id.* at 22-23. Framing the issue in this light is far too limiting. Mr. Mercer did not necessarily intend to bring up Michael’s crimes for impeachment purposes only. That line of questioning could have been used to show the parties’ motive for transferring properties back and forth. It could have been used to establish the parties’ true intentions concerning the transactions, as well as their knowledge that a resulting trust was not intended. It also could have been used to show bias, motive to lie or misrepresent, or to show a plan or scheme pursuant to URE 404(b) and 608(c), all of which can be proper uses of character evidence. Finally, Michael could have opened the door for Mr. Mercer by volunteering information regarding his drug trafficking, thus putting it at issue.

John cites Crimm v. Missouri Pacific R. Co. for the proposition that “illegal drug use or transactions, without more, do not show untruthfulness” and thus may not be used to impeach. 750 F.2d 703 (8th Cir. 1984). However, the key phrase is “without more.” In Crimm, the witness’s only involvement with drugs was that he had used marijuana two or three years prior to trial. *Id.* Here, Michael’s alleged actions are significantly more extensive than those in Crimm. Michael is accused of being the kingpin in a multi-person drug ring to distribute narcotics. R. 2953: 129; 155 (10-17). The drug ring was based out of Coachman’s Restaurant, owned by John. Mr. Mercer’s questioning about these actions,

including what properties were involved in the trafficking, could have revealed circumstances about the alleged resulting trust, thus making the evidence admissible. It is possible that John knew about the drug trafficking in his restaurant and that his titling of some property in his name and some in Michael's name was a scheme to protect both of their assets from the consequences of their illegal activity.

Moreover, the credibility of the witnesses was a core component of this case. Michael is John's son, and they have been in business together for over 18 years. Their business interests are interconnected and thus Michael had a serious potential bias and motive to lie on his father's behalf. Without the opportunity to impeach Michael, Chesnoff's case would have been severely prejudiced. As the lower court stated: "I don't feel I can accept the testimony presented without making the witnesses available to be cross-examined. I think credibility is a very important issue here. There's serious issues – questions about credibility..." R. 2953: 156 (15-18).

Neither party can accurately predict what testimony would have been elicited had Michael testified and been subject to cross-examination. Evidence "should be received if offered for an admissible purpose although it would be inadmissible if offered for some other purpose." Neal, 254 P.2d at 1056. John cannot hypothetically declare that information regarding Michael's drug trafficking would have been categorically inadmissible without knowing the context and purpose for which that evidence was to be elicited.

**B. The lower court properly presumed an adverse inference against John Nikols with respect to Michael Nikols' refusal to testify.**

Courts have recognized the missing witness inference for over a century. See Graves v. United States, 150 U.S. 118, 121 (1893). Essentially, the doctrine is that if a party has the power to produce a witness whose testimony would elucidate a transaction but does not, his failure to produce the witness permits an inference that, had the testimony been produced, it would have been unfavorable. State v. Smith, 706 P.2d 1052, 1057 (Utah 1985); *see also* Wigmore, Evidence (3d Ed. 1940) § 285, 162 (“The failure to bring before the tribunal some circumstance, document or witness ... serves to indicate, as the most natural inference, that the party fears to do so, and this fear is some evidence that the circumstance or document or witness, if brought, would have exposed facts unfavorable to that party.”). For purposes of this inference, a party has power to produce a witness if “the witness is physically available only to the opponent, or that the witness has the type of relationship with the opposing party that pragmatically renders his testimony unavailable to the opposing party.” Smith, 706 P.2d at 1057-1058; *see also* State v. Thompson, 776 P.2d 48 (Utah 1989).

The missing witness inference extends to civil cases and a witness's invocation of his Fifth Amendment right to silence.

[T]he proposition is well established that in civil cases a party's failure to respond to valid inquiries on the basis of the privilege against self-incrimination can give rise to an adverse inference against that party at trial.

First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Salt Lake City v. Schamanek, 684 P.2d 1257, 1267 (Utah 1984). Indeed, “the Fifth Amendment does not forbid adverse inferences against parties to civil actions when they refuse to testify in response to probative evidence offered against them[.]” Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 318 (1976).

In this case, Michael has been an employee of Coachman's Restaurant since he was 14 years old. R. 2953: 87 (17-20). At one point, Michael was president of the restaurant and actively ran the business for his father. R. 2953: 49. Michael and John were also, at one point, represented by the same legal counsel. R. 147: (10-12). Michael was clearly a witness that was “peculiarly” within John's power to produce because they enjoy “the type of relationship...that pragmatically renders [Michael's] testimony unavailable” to Chesnoff. Smith, 706 P.2d at 105 8. Furthermore, Michael's status as long time employee of Coachman's makes his refusal to testify (without waiving his Fifth Amendment rights) attributable to John, his employer. Rad Services, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, 808 F.2d 271, 275 (3rd Cir. 1986); *see also* Brink's Inc. v. City of New York, 171 F.2d 700 (2d Cir. 1983).

Therefore, the lower court's inference that Michael's testimony would have been adverse to John was appropriate under the circumstances.

**IV. THE COURT CORRECTLY IMPOSED AN ADVERSE INFERENCE AGAINST JOHN NIKOLS WITH RESPECT TO MIKE NIKOLS' REFUSAL TO WAIVE THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE.**

In his brief, John incorrectly states that “John Nikols established his case before submitting it to Mr. Chesnoff’s witnesses, at which point Mr. Chesnoff chose not to testify.” App. Brief 34. In reality, Chesnoff was prohibited from effectively presenting his case by John and Michael’s refusal to waive the attorney-client privilege.

At trial, counsel for Chesnoff stated:

It’s Mr. Chesnoff who informed me at the break that he is concerned about Mr. Nikols and what he is about to say. And this is his idea. *He’s willing to testify.* I know what his testimony is going to be,... and I think it causes Mr. Michael Nikols some problems.

R. 2953: 125 (1-5) (emphasis added). Chesnoff was clearly ready and willing to testify at trial. At that point, the lower court asked Michael if he was willing to waive the attorney-client privilege created while Michael was represented by Chesnoff. R. 2953: 156-157 (1-6). Michael refused. John’s counsel also made it clear that she did not want Michael to waive his attorney-client privilege as to Chesnoff’s testimony. R. 2953: 156 (24-25); 157 (1-6). As a result, Chesnoff was effectively prevented from putting on his case, because he was unable to testify about Michael and John and about any improper purpose regarding the Properties.

The missing witness inference, discussed *supra*, also applies to John’s failure to allow Chesnoff to testify as to what he knew. Chesnoff was present at the hearing and more than willing to testify as to discussions he had with Michael and John regarding the Properties. Chesnoff’s testimony would have been probative of whether there was a purchase money resulting trust. However, Michael refused to waive the attorney-client privilege, both on his

own and via John's legal counsel. The attorney-client privilege could not have been waived unilaterally by Chesnoff.

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